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Issue 12 
Women and the Synagogue 
 
The Brooklyn Daily Eagle Reported on the News and History of the Daughters of Israel Society   
1 “Daughters of Israel” August 18, 1875, Page 3. / 2 “Picnic of the Daughters of Israel. A Large Gathering at Schuetzen 
Park Last Evening” August 13, 1884, Page 3. / 3 “The Daughters of Israel. The Thirteenth Annual Picnic of Its Benefit 
Society”, July 16, 1887, Page 2. / 4 “Daughters of Israel. Tenth Annual Ball of the Society at Grand Central Hall Last 
Night”, November 29, 1882, Page 2. / 5 “General Matters in the Courts. Daughters of Israel”, May 10, 1884, Page 6. / 6 
“Held Last Night”, January 23, 1899, Page 5. / 7 “Daughters of Israel”, January 22, 1899, Page 7. / 8 “Daughters of Israel”, 
March 3, 1902, Page 5. 
 
“Woman’s Place in the Jewish Synagogue” 
Credit: Brooklyn Eagle, December 1, 1878, Page2 
Presents proposal at Shaarai Tephila to allow women to sit beside men during divine service. 
 
“Getting Ready for the Big Jewish Hospital Fair” 
Credit: Brooklyn Eagle, October 12, 1902 
Article about the “Tabernacle of Succoth” benefit held at the Academy of Music for one week. Includes a photo of 
Daughter of Israel leader Mrs Amelia Fallek “one of the most prominent workers” ran booth five.    
 
Women’s Organizations  By Carol Levin 
Provides Rabbi Goldfarb’s 1956 summary of the congregation’s women’s organizations that appeared in the Centennial 
Banquet book and a brief history of the Daughters of Israel Society by the Editor.  
 
Sisterhood Minute Book (1912-1920) The Sisterhood Minutes from 1912-1920 present details of the organization, 
including the order of the meetings, activities, financial reports and the names of the members. Mrs. Sophie Weinberg, 
who served as sisterhood president from 1912 -1915, was one of the only women whose first name appears in the book. 
Other women are recorded with either “Mrs” or “sister,” followed by the initial letter of her husband’s first name and then 
her surname.”    Page 49     Page 77    Page 78  
 
Egalitarian Milestones 
150 years ago, synagogue life was very different for the women of this congregation. The list records the milestones of 
their inclusion and achievement.  
 
The Women’s Movement By Judith R. Greenwald 
This article about the participation of women in the synagogue is excerpted from Jews of Brooklyn, First Synagogues The 
First 144 Years of Congregation Baith Israel Anshei Emes (The Kane Street Synagogue). 
  
An Interview With Ann Rosalsky  By Judy Greenwald, BIAE Journal of 1988 
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In this issue … 
The participation of women in synagogue life is examined. Women play a pivotal role In Parsha Vayekhel (Exodus 35-38.) 
Rabbis believed that without their devotion to keeping ancestral traditions in the home during 400 years of slavery and 
protecting children after Pharaoh’s genocidal decree, the Israelites would not have been redeemed from Egypt. The 
Israelite women did not join the men in worshipping the Golden Calf, but afterwards, they contributed their gold and silver 
jewelry willingly to make the Temple artifacts. Vayekhel, begins with “And he assembled. And Moses assembled the KOL 
ADAT, the entire Congregation of the Children of Israel and said to them “These are the things that G-d commanded.” 
This was followed by a reminder of the commandment to keep the Shabbat and detailed information about the 
contributions to, and the construction of the Tabernacle. The commandment was to men and women alike.  
 
Throughout the congregation’s history, women have assembled and worked together to benefit the synagogue. Read 
about the good works in the nineteenth century of the Daughters of Israel Benefit Society. In the early to mid-20

th
 century, 

the Sisterhood raised substantial funds to maintain and renovate the synagogue. In the last thirty years, as leadership and 
ritual positions became fully available to women, individuals have taken responsibility for the care and continuity of the 
congregation. In 2006, women comprise more than half the total number of Officers and Trustees.   
  
Carol Levin, Editor 
historicaljournal@kanestreet.org 
 
 
 
 
About the Journal … 
 
The Synagogue Journal” is a one-year online publication at www.kanestreet.org/historical_journal.html, designed to 
highlight the three periods of the Kane Street Synagogue congregation: the first fifty years as Congregation Baith Israel at 
both the Atlantic Street and the Boerum Place sites; the middle years (1905-1956) with Rabbi Israel Goldfarb as spiritual 
leader of the consolidated Congregation Baith Israel Anshei Emes at the present location that was known as Harrison 
Street, and the last fifty years, as the synagogue evolved to be the Congregation that we know today. 
 
We welcome submissions of reminiscences, letters and photographs to help shape the BIAE story.  For a list of upcoming 
Journal themes or to read past issues, see “Archives,” located under the Journal banner.    
 
Special thanks to: Rabbi Samuel Weintraub; webmaster Dugans Martinez; the Brooklyn Daily Eagle Online™, Brooklyn 
Public Library; www.brooklynpubliclibrary.org/eagle 
 
.  
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Brooklyn Eagle;  Aug 18, 1875;   Page 3
 

 

 



Brooklyn Eagle;   Aug 13, 1884;   Page 3
 

 

 



Brooklyn Eagle;  Jul 16, 1887;   Page 2
 

 

 



Brooklyn Eagle;  Nov 29, 1882;    Page 2 

 



 

Brooklyn Eagle; May 10, 1884;   Page 6 

 

 

 

 

 



Brooklyn Eagle; Jan 23, 1899; Page 5 

 

 
       

 



Brooklyn Eagle;   Jan 22, 1899;   Page 7 

 



Brooklyn Eagle;  Mar 3, 1902;   Page 5 

 



Brooklyn Eagle;   Dec 1, 1878;   Page 2 



      

 





 



Sisterhood Minute Book (1912-1920) Page 49 
The sisterhood minute book is located at the Special Collections Reading Room, Jewish Theological Seminary Library.  



Sisterhood Minute Book – Page 77 
 
 



Sisterhood Minute Book – Page 78 Sisterhood Minute Book – Page 78 
 



Women’s Organizations 
 
Rabbi Goldfarb summarized “THE SISTERHOOD” for the 1956 Centennial Banquet Dinner journal. 
 
“THE SISTERHOOD 
 
In reviewing the history of the congregation we must not lose sight of the part the women have taken in furthering its 
interests. The first attempt to organize the women of Baith Israel was made as early as 1868 when the “Daughters of 
Israel Benefit Society” was formed. This Association, although not organized specifically as an auxiliary to the 
congregation, proved itself, nevertheless, a beneficial factor in the promotion of its welfare. Several attempts were 
afterwards made at organizing a sisterhood but each time the organization was short-lived. It was not until December, 
1908, that a permanent organization of women was effected through the efforts of President H. M. Copland and Rabbi 
Israel Goldfarb. The Society was named “The Sisterhood of Congregation Baith Israel” and its purpose was ‘”to assist the 
congregation and the Talmud Torah.” The first officers of the Sisterhood were: Mrs. L. Summer, President; Mrs. P. 
Weinberg, Vice-President; Mrs. I. Applebaum, Treasurer; and Mrs. I. Goldfarb, Secretary. 
 
Much has been said of what the men have done for the Synagogue. It now remains to state that the women have taken 
no mean part in the up-building of the congregation. The Sisterhood has done monumental work not only in beautifying 
the Congregation building, but also by contributing large sums of money to the Congregation’s treasury. The Sisterhood 
also participated in other philanthropic endeavors such as the War Relief, Palestine Appeal, Adoption of War Orphans, 
Women’s League of the United Synagogue, Social service, local charities, maintenance of Sunday school, etc. Those who 
served the organization as president since is reorganization are: Mrs. L. Summer, Mrs. Sophie Weinberg, Mrs. M. Salit, 
Mrs. A. Wolf, Mrs. I. Goldfarb, Mrs. Jennie Kern, Mrs. S. Rosalsky and Mrs. Jacob Ilson. Other women who will be long 
remembered in the annals of the congregation for their splendid service either as officials or as benefactresses are: Mrs. 
Amelia Lamm, who served as president of the “Daughters of Israel” for 28 years, Mrs. H. Sonnenstrahl, Mrs. J. Lehman, 
Mrs. B. Kalischer, and last but not least the Grand old Lady, Mrs. J. Kurtz of blessed memory.”  
 
 
This brief history on the Daughters of Israel Society was gathered from the Brooklyn Daily Eagle.  
 
In 1874, past-president Herman Matthias organizes the Daughters of Israel Society of Beth Israel, entrusting its care to 
Mrs. Amelia Lamm who serves as president for twenty-five years. The society’s aim is to relieve the poor and sick in 
distress and the burying of the dead. They assemble every three weeks at Boerum Place Synagogue and raise funds 
through annual picnics and balls. The initial group in 1874 is only 15 women, but by 1877, membership grows to 75. 
Amelia sets a trend with many of the married ladies in the group. In 1884 when they officially incorporate, seven of the 
eight incorporators use their first name instead of the usual fashion with “Mrs.” followed by the husband’s name.  
 
In addition to helping the poor, members agree “to visit each other in times of sickness and relieve each other by 
donations and contributions.” “The management is entirely in the hands of ladies benevolently inclined. The yearly dues 
are nominal, but the benefits derived from being a member are large. The society takes upon itself the burial of any of its 
members in case of death. If the deceased’s family is in destitute circumstances they are at once cared for. The society 
numbers among its members many of the managers of the Hebrew Orphan Asylum. By 1887, “a membership of 200 
made up of both lady and gentlemen members of the church.” By 1899, membership decreases to 50. In October 1902, 
they participate at the weeklong fair for the Jewish Hospital, setting up a booth under the elaborate Succoth tent erected 
at the Academy of Music. The Eagle article features Daughters of Israel member Amelia Fallek as “one of the most 
prominent workers.”  
Editor 



Egalitarian Milestones 
 
1873 -   Women and men sit together in family pews. 
 
1930s - Women and men sing in mixed choir.   
 
1966 -   First pulpit honors to a woman, gelilah – Jacob and Anne Hertz are the first couple to share an aliyah.  
 
1971 -   Women are called to the Torah. Sisterhood pres Sally Solomon promotes participation of women at services.  
 
1971 -   First woman to wear a tallit – Barbara Bingham. 
 
1972 -   First woman trustee - Evelyn Rubenstein. 
 
1973 -   Women allowed to open Ark; speak from Bimah; receive Aliyot. 
 
1974 -   Women counted in a minyan; hold and read Torah; chant Haftorah. 
 
1977 -   Bat Kohane and Baat Levi accorded the same privileges as male offspring. 
 
1978 -   First Bat Mitzvah - Jane Abramowitz. 
 
1980 -   First woman president – Nancy Fink. 
 
1982 -   Women given full equality with the right to serve as rabbi, cantor, lead services; blow the shofar, and as 
             daughters of Kohanim, duchen (recite the blessings of the priests over the congregation.) 
 
1988 -   First woman rabbi - Rabbi Debra Cantor. 
 
1990 -   First time when three generations of women read from the Torah – Jenny Brooks, Joy Fallek and Ronit Fallek. 
 
1992 -   First woman shofar blower – Rena Schklowsky. 
 
2002 -   First woman cantor – Cantor Sharon Bernstein leads Friday night services and serves as part-time Music 

       Director.  
 
 

 



The Women’s Movement 

By Judith R. Greenwald  
 
Women, individually and in groups, have always participated in the life of the Synagogue, as fully as law and custom as 
variously construed during different historic periods allowed. The feminist movement of the 1970s brought about many 
changes in the manner in which women participated in the life of the Congregation. 

During Rabbi Scheindlin’s tenure, one of the boldest and most beneficial decisions ever made in the Congregation’s 
history was adopted.  During the early 1970s the women’s movement had liberated the energies of female constituents.  
It had the blessings of the Sisterhood, led by President Sally Solomon.  In Rabbi Rosen’s tenure, women were called to 
the Torah.  Several, among them Paula Scharf, Miryam Wasserman and Ellen Friedman, read Haftorah.  Evelyn 
Rubenstein organized many successful street fairs.  Judy Greenwald took turns with Isaac Druker and Ben Zalman in 
organizing the anniversary dinner-dances and publishing the dinner-dance journals.  Miryam Wasserman served as 
Prozdor Principal.  Rachel Epstein edited the Scroll and Gerry Gross prepared the press releases and newspaper 
articles about the Synagogue and its members.  The impact of the Congregation’s women reached a zenith with the 
election in 1980 of Nancy Fink, a Brooklyn Law School professor, as President.  To this position she brought 
considerable energy, aspiration and administrative skill.   

In 1982 President Fink called a full membership meeting to consider whether women should be accorded full ritual 
participation.  There were three questions to be answered: may a woman serve as sheliah tzibbur, may a woman blow 
shofar on Rosh Hashana, and may daughters of Kohanim duchen (recite the blessing of the priests over the 
congregation).  Rabbi Scheindlin addressed the meeting and carefully instructed the Congregation about the halakhic 
principles involved.  He explained that the principle underlying the first two issues was one of agency: may the 
congregation’s men deputize a woman to perform time-bound rituals that they are obligated to perform, but she is not.  
Historically women were not required to carry out time-bound rituals whereas men were obligated to perform them.  
While the Rabbinic answer to this question is no, Rabbi Scheindlin observed that the Rabbis had based the exemption 
of women from time-bound rituals upon certain social conventions that no longer obtained.  This explanation indicated 
to the Congregation that when the reason for a rule ceases, the rule may cease.  A different principle was involved with 
respect to duchening.  Rabbi Scheindlin made it clear that a women is not of priestly status, but that duchening did not 
involve any exclusively priestly practices.  This indicated to the Congregation that daughters of Kohanim could duchen 
without violating any halakhic principle. 

“The rest is history.”  The Congregation’s consensus was to accord full equality to women and the Board so resolved.  
Since then women have participated fully in all aspects of Congregation life and two, Judith R. Greenwald and Ellen A. 
Bowin, followed in Nancy Fink’s steps and served as Congregation presidents. 

The egalitarian decision was a bold decision, nevertheless, because it did not please everyone.  Some members left 
the Congregation.  Yet, given the difficult lives led by members and the enormous claims on their time, it is apparent 
that had this decision not been made, this largely participatory, volunteer-run Congregation, would not have had 
sufficient strength to carry out its ambitious educational, social and ritual programs.   

The decision to be fully egalitarian led to the next bold decision: to ask a woman, Rabbi Debra Cantor, to accept the 
position of Rabbi.  This displeased a few more members and they defected to play a major role in the development of a 
new neighborhood Orthodox minyan into a viable and vibrant  Orthodox congregation.  Yet these bold moves, like 
previous bold moves, proved equally fruitful.  They had the positive effect of bringing into being a new Congregation in 
the area.  Once again, Congregation Baith Israel Anshei Emes was a “mother” congregation seeding new 
congregations with its own members.  They also enabled the Congregation to draw upon an enlarged pool of members 
who could read Torah and lead in ritual obligations.  For a participatory congregation, strength in numbers is vital.  
They also attracted scores of young couples for whom egalitarianism was a reality and a commitment.  They also 
served to motivate the next generation.  Today, after their bar/bat mitzvahs, young men and women read Torah and 
serve the Congregation at services shoulder-to-shoulder with their elders.   

In the year 2000, two young women of the Congregation, Alice Phillips and Liba Rubenstein, won “Bronfman Youth 
Fellowhips in Israel”. This prestigious grant is awarded annually to only twenty-six in a competition among students 
from all over the United States and Canada.  The statistical fact that two young women from one small congregation 
were among the few winners in so large a field is a telling sign that Baith Israel Anshei Emes’ bold egalitarian decisions 
have been correct on all counts. 
 

 
Judith R. Greenwald, Congregation past-president, archivist  
and historian, wrote this article for Jews of Brooklyn, edited by   
Ilana Abramovitch, Sean Glavin, Brandeis University Press, 2003   



An Interview With Ann Rosalsky 
This 1988 interview by Judy Greenwald appeared in the 132

nd
 Anniversary Dinner Journal  

 
 


